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agency order or the date of a missed in-
stallment payment. The notice will in-
clude a warning that failure to pay the 
entire penalty within 90 days after pay-
ment was due, will result in the CMV 
owner or operator being prohibited 
from operating in interstate com-
merce. 

(2) The notice will order the CMV 
owner or operator to show cause why it 
should not be prohibited from oper-
ating in interstate commerce on the 
91st day after the date specified for 
payment. The prohibition may be 
avoided only by submitting to the 
Chief Safety Officer: 

(i) Evidence that the respondent has 
paid the entire amount due; or 

(ii) Evidence that the respondent has 
filed for bankruptcy under chapter 11, 
title 11, United States Code. Respond-
ents in bankruptcy must also submit 
the information required by paragraph 
(d) of this section. 

(3) The notice will be delivered by 
certified mail or commercial express 
service. If a CMV owner’s or operator’s 
principal place of business is in a for-
eign country, the notice will be deliv-
ered to the CMV owner’s or operator’s 
designated agent. 

(c) A CMV owner or operator that 
continues to operate in interstate com-
merce in violation of this section may 
be subject to additional sanctions 
under paragraph IV (h) of appendix A 
to part 386. 

(d) This section does not apply to any 
person who is unable to pay a civil pen-
alty because the person is a debtor in a 
case under chapter 11, title 11, United 
States Code. CMV owners or operators 
in bankruptcy proceedings under chap-
ter 11 must provide the following infor-
mation in their response to the 
FMCSA: 

(1) The chapter of the Bankruptcy 
Code under which the bankruptcy pro-
ceeding is filed (i.e., chapter 7 or 11); 

(2) The bankruptcy case number; 
(3) The court in which the bank-

ruptcy proceeding was filed; and 
(4) Any other information requested 

by the agency to determine a debtor’s 
bankruptcy status. 

[65 FR 78428, Dec. 15, 2000]

§ 386.84 Sanction for failure to pay 
civil penalties or abide by payment 
plan; suspension or revocation of 
registration. 

(a)(1) General rule. The registration of 
a broker, freight forwarder, or for-hire 
motor carrier that fails to pay a civil 
penalty in full within 90 days after the 
date specified for payment by the 
FMCSA’s final agency order, will be 
suspended starting on the next (i.e., the 
91st) day. The suspension continues 
until the FMCSA has received full pay-
ment of the penalty. 

(2) Civil penalties paid in installments. 
The FMCSA Service Center may allow 
a respondent broker, freight forwarder, 
or for-hire motor carrier to pay a civil 
penalty in installments. If the respond-
ent fails to make an installment pay-
ment on schedule, the payment plan is 
void and the entire debt is payable im-
mediately. The registration of a re-
spondent that fails to pay the remain-
der of its civil penalty in full within 90 
days after the date of the missed in-
stallment payment, is suspended on the 
next (i.e., the 91st) day. The suspension 
continues until the FMCSA has re-
ceived full payment of entire penalty. 

(3) Appeals to Federal Court. If the re-
spondent broker, freight forwarder, or 
for-hire motor carrier appeals the final 
agency order to a Federal Circuit Court 
of Appeals, the terms and payment due 
date of the final agency order are not 
stayed unless the Court so directs. 

(b) Show Cause Proceeding. (1) The 
FMCSA will notify a respondent 
broker, freight forwarder, or for-hire 
motor carrier in writing if it has not 
received payment within 45 days after 
the date specified for payment by the 
final agency order or the date of a 
missed installment payment. The no-
tice will include a warning that failure 
to pay the entire penalty within 90 
days after payment was due, will result 
in the suspension of the respondent’s 
registration. 

(2) The notice will order the respond-
ent to show cause why its registration 
should not be suspended on the 91st day 
after the date specified for payment. 
The prohibition may be avoided only 
by submitting to the Chief Safety Offi-
cer: 

(i) Evidence that the respondent has 
paid the entire amount due; or 
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(ii) Evidence that the respondent has 
filed for bankruptcy under chapter 11, 
title 11, United States Code. Respond-
ents in bankruptcy must also submit 
the information required by paragraph 
(d) of this section. 

(3) The notice will be delivered by 
certified mail or commercial express 
service. If a respondent’s principal 
place of business is in a foreign coun-
try, it will be delivered to the respond-
ent’s designated agent. 

(c) The registration of a broker, 
freight forwarder or for-hire motor car-
rier that continues to operate in inter-
state commerce in violation of this 
section after its registration has been 
suspended may be revoked after an ad-
ditional notice and opportunity for a 
proceeding in accordance with 49 U.S.C. 
13905(c). Additional sanctions may be 
imposed under paragraph IV (h) of ap-
pendix A to part 386. 

(d) This section does not apply to any 
person who is unable to pay a civil pen-
alty because the person is a debtor in a 
case under chapter 11, title 11, United 
States Code. Brokers, freight for-
warders, or for-hire motor carriers in 
bankruptcy proceedings under chapter 
11 must provide the following informa-
tion in their response to the FMCSA: 

(1) The chapter of the Bankruptcy 
Code under which the bankruptcy pro-
ceeding is filed (i.e., chapter 7 or 11); 

(2) The bankruptcy case number; 
(3) The court in which the bank-

ruptcy proceeding was filed; and 
(4) Any other information requested 

by the agency to determine a debtor’s 
bankruptcy status. 

[65 FR 78428, Dec. 15, 2000]

APPENDIX A TO PART 386—PENALTY 
SCHEDULE; VIOLATIONS OF NOTICES 
AND ORDERS 

I. Notice to Abate 

a. Violation—failure to cease violations of 
the regulations in the time prescribed in the 
notice.
(The time within which to comply with a no-
tice to abate shall not begin to run with re-
spect to contested violations, i.e., where 
there are material issues in dispute under 
§ 386.14, until such time as the violation has 
been established.)

Penalty—reinstatement of any deferred as-
sessment or payment of a penalty or portion 
thereof. 

b. Violation—failure to comply with spe-
cific actions prescribed in a notice of inves-
tigation, compliance order or consent order, 
other than cessation of violations of the reg-
ulations, which were determined to be essen-
tial to abatement of future violations. 

Penalty—$1,100 per violation per day. 
Maximum—$11,000. 

II. Notice to Post 

Violation— Failure to post notice of viola-
tion (i.e., notice of investigation) as pre-
scribed. 

Penalty—$550 (A separate violation may be 
charged each time a failure to post as or-
dered is discovered.) 

III. Final Order 

Violation— Failure to comply with final 
agency order, i.e., failure to pay the penalty 
assessed therein after notice and opportunity 
for hearing within time prescribed in the 
order. 

Penalty— Automatic waiver of any reduc-
tion in the original claim found to be valid, 
and immediate restoration to the full 
amount assessed in the Claim Letter or No-
tice of Investigation. 

IV. Out-of-Service Order 

a. Violation— Operation of a commercial 
vehicle by a driver during the period the 
driver was placed out of service. 

Penalty— Up to $1,100 per violation.

(For purposes of this violation, the term 
‘‘driver’’ means an operator of a commercial 
motor vehicle, including an independent con-
tractor who, while in the course of operating 
a commercial motor vehicle, is employed or 
used by another person.)

b. Violation—Requiring or permitting a 
driver to operate a commercial vehicle dur-
ing the period the driver was placed out of 
service. 

Penalty— Up to $11,000 per violation.

(This violation applies to motor carriers, in-
cluding an independent contractor who is 
not a ‘‘driver,’’ as defined under paragraph 
IVa above.) 

c. Violation— Operation of a commercial 
motor vehicle by a driver after the vehicle 
was placed out of service and before the re-
quired repairs are made. 

Penalty—$1,100 each time the vehicle is so 
operated.

(This violation applies to drivers as defined 
in IVa above.)

d. Violation— Requiring or permitting the 
operation of a commercial motor vehicle 
placed out of service before the required re-
pairs are made. 

Penalty— Up to $11,000 each time the vehi-
cle is so operated after notice of the defect is 
received.
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(This violation applies to motor carriers, in-
cluding an independent owner-operator who 
is not a ‘‘driver,’’ as defined in IVa above.)

e. Violation— Failure to return written cer-
tification of correction as required by the 
out-of-service order. 

Penalty— Up to $550 per violation. 
f. Violation— Knowingly falsifies written 

certification of correction required by the 
out-of-service order. 

Penalty— Considered the same as the viola-
tions described in paragraphs IVc and IVd 
above, and subject to the same penalties.

NOTE: Falsification of certification may 
also result in criminal prosecution under 18 
U.S.C. 1001.

g. Violation— Operating in violation of an 
order issued under § 386.72(b) to cease all or 
part of the employer’s commercial motor ve-
hicle operations, i.e., failure to cease oper-
ations as ordered. 

Penalty— Up to $11,000 per day the oper-
ation continues after the effective date and 
time of the order to cease. 

h. Violation—Conducting operations during 
a period of suspension under §§ 386.83 or 386.84 
for failure to pay penalties. 

Penalty—Up to $10,000 for each day that op-
erations are conducted during the suspension 
period. 

[56 FR 10184, Mar. 11, 1991, as amended at 63 
FR 12414, Mar. 13, 1998; 65 FR 78429, Dec. 15, 
2000]

APPENDIX B TO PART 386—PENALTY 
SCHEDULE; VIOLATIONS AND MAX-
IMUM MONETARY PENALTIES 

The Debt Collection Improvement Act of 
1996 [Public Law 104–134, title III, chapter 10, 
Sec. 31001, par. (s), 110 Stat. 1321–373] amend-
ed the Federal Civil Penalties Inflation Ad-
justment Act of 1990 to require agencies to 
adjust for inflation ‘‘each civil monetary 
penalty provided by law within the jurisdic-
tion of the Federal agency * * *’’ and to pub-
lish that regulation in the FEDERAL REG-
ISTER. Pursuant to that authority, the infla-
tion-adjusted civil penalties listed in para-
graphs (a)(5) and (b) through (f) below super-
sede the corresponding civil penalty amounts 
listed in title 49, United States Code. 

What are the types of violations and max-
imum monetary penalties? 

(a) Violations of the Federal Motor Carrier 
Safety Regulations (FMCSRs).

(1) Recordkeeping. A person or entity that 
fails to prepare or maintain a record re-
quired by parts 385 and 390–399 of this sub-
chapter, or prepares or maintains a required 
record that is incomplete, inaccurate, or 
false, is subject to a maximum civil penalty 
of $500 for each day the violation continues, 
up to $5,000. 

(2) Knowing falsification of records. A person 
or entity that knowingly falsifies, destroys, 
mutilates or changes a report or record re-
quired by parts 385 and 390–399 of this sub-
chapter, knowingly makes or causes to be 
made a false or incomplete record about an 
operation or business fact or transaction, or 
knowingly makes, prepares, or preserves a 
record in violation of a regulation or order of 
the Secretary is subject to a maximum civil 
penalty of $5,000 if such action misrepresents 
a fact that constitutes a violation other than 
a reporting or recordkeeping violation. 

(3) Non-recordkeeping violations. A person or 
entity who violates parts 385 or 390–399 of 
this subchapter, except a recordkeeping re-
quirement, is subject to a civil penalty not 
to exceed $10,000 for each violation. 

(4) Non-recordkeeping violations by drivers. A 
driver who violates parts 385 and 390–399 of 
this subchapter, except a recordkeeping vio-
lation, is subject to a civil penalty not to ex-
ceed $2,500. 

(5) Violation of 49 CFR 392.5. A driver placed 
out of service for 24 hours for violating the 
alcohol prohibitions of 49 CFR 392.5(a) or (b) 
who drives during that period is subject to a 
civil penalty not to exceed $2,750 for each 
violation. 

(b) Commercial driver’s license (CDL) viola-
tions. Any person who violates 49 CFR part 
383, subparts B, C, E, F, G, or H is subject to 
a civil penalty of $2,750. 

(c) Special penalties pertaining to violations 
of out-of-service orders by CDL-holders. A CDL-
holder who is convicted of violating an out-
of-service order shall be subject to a civil 
penalty of not less than $1,100 nor more than 
$2,750. An employer of a CDL-holder who 
knowingly allows, requires, permits, or au-
thorizes that employee to operate a CMV 
during any period in which the CDL-holder is 
subject to an out-of-service order, is subject 
to a civil penalty of not less than $2,750 or 
more than $11,000. 

(d) Financial responsibility violations. A 
motor carrier that fails to maintain the lev-
els of financial responsibility prescribed by 
Part 387 of this subchapter is subject to a 
maximum penalty of $11,000 for each viola-
tion. Each day of a continuing violation con-
stitutes a separate offense. 

(e) Violations of the Hazardous Materials 
Regulations (HMRs). This paragraph applies 
to violations by motor carriers, drivers, ship-
pers and other persons who transport haz-
ardous materials on the highway in commer-
cial motor vehicles or cause hazardous mate-
rials to be so transported. 

(1) All knowing violations of 49 U.S.C. 
chapter 51 or orders or regulations issued 
under the authority of that chapter applica-
ble to the transportation or shipment of haz-
ardous materials by commercial motor vehi-
cle on highways are subject to a civil penalty 
of not less than $250 and not more than 
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$27,500 for each violation. Each day of a con-
tinuing violation constitutes a separate of-
fense. 

(2) All knowing violations of 49 U.S.C. 
chapter 51 or orders, regulations, or exemp-
tions issued under the authority of that 
chapter applicable to the manufacture, fab-
rication, marking, maintenance, recondi-
tioning, repair or testing of a packaging or 
container which is represented, marked, cer-
tified or sold as being qualified for use in the 
transportation or shipment of hazardous ma-
terials by commercial motor vehicle on high-
ways, are subject to a civil penalty of not 
less than $250 and not more than $27,500 for 
each violation. 

(3) Whenever regulations issued under the 
authority of 49 U.S.C. chapter 51 require 
compliance with the FMCSRs while trans-
porting hazardous materials, any violations 
of the FMCSRs will be considered a violation 
of the HMRs and subject to a civil penalty of 
not less than $250 and not more than $27,500. 

(f) Operating with an unsatisfactory safety 
rating. A motor carrier knowingly trans-
porting hazardous materials in quantities re-
quiring placarding, or passengers in a vehicle 
designed or used to transport more than 15 
passengers, on the 46th or any subsequent 
day after receiving an unsatisfactory safety 
rating, is subject to a civil penalty of not 
less than $250 and not more than $27,500. 
Each day the transportation of hazardous 
materials continues constitutes a separate 
violation. 

(g) Violations of the commercial regulations 
(CRs). Penalties for violations of the CRs are 
specified in 49 U.S.C. Chapter 149. These pen-
alties relate to transportation subject to the 
Secretary’s jurisdiction under 49 U.S.C. 
Chapter 135. Unless otherwise noted, a sepa-
rate violation occurs for each day the viola-
tion continues. 

(1) A person who fails to make a report, to 
specifically, completely, and truthfully an-
swer a question, or to make, prepare, or pre-
serve a record in the form and manner pre-
scribed is liable for a minimum penalty of 
$500 per violation. 

(2) A person who operates as a carrier or 
broker for the transportation of property in 
violation of the registration requirements of 
49 U.S.C. 13901 is liable for a minimum pen-
alty of $500 per violation. 

(3) A person who operates as a motor car-
rier of passengers in violation of the reg-
istration requirements of 49 U.S.C. 13901 is 
liable for a minimum penalty of $2,000 per 
violation. 

(4) A person who operates as a foreign 
motor carrier or foreign motor private car-
rier in violation of the provisions of 49 U.S.C. 
13902 (c) is liable for a minimum penalty of 
$500 per violation. 

(5) A person who operates as a foreign 
motor carrier or foreign motor private car-
rier without authority, before the implemen-

tation of the land transportation provisions 
of the North American Free Trade Agree-
ment, outside the boundaries of a commer-
cial zone along the United States-Mexico 
border is liable for a maximum penalty of 
$10,000 for an intentional violation and a 
maximum penalty of $25,000 for a pattern of 
intentional violations. 

(6) A person who operates as a motor car-
rier or broker for the transportation of haz-
ardous wastes in violation of the registration 
provisions of 49 U.S.C. 13901 is liable for a 
maximum penalty of $20,000 per violation. 

(7) A motor carrier or freight forwarder of 
household goods, or their receiver or trustee, 
that does not comply with any regulation re-
lating to the protection of individual ship-
pers is liable for a minimum penalty of $1,000 
per violation. 

(8) A person— 
(i) Who falsifies, or authorizes an agent or 

other person to falsify, documents used in 
the transportation of household goods by 
motor carrier or freight forwarder to evi-
dence the weight of a shipment or 

(ii) Who charges for services which are not 
performed or are not reasonably necessary in 
the safe and adequate movement of the ship-
ment is liable for a minimum penalty of 
$2,000 for the first violation and $5,000 for 
each subsequent violation. 

(9) A person who knowingly accepts or re-
ceives from a carrier a rebate or offset 
against the rate specified in a tariff required 
under 49 U.S.C. 13702 for the transportation 
of property delivered to the carrier commits 
a violation for which the penalty is equal to 
three times the amount accepted as a rebate 
or offset and three times the value of other 
consideration accepted or received as a re-
bate or offset for the six-year period before 
the action is begun. 

(10) A person who offers, gives, solicits, or 
receives transportation of property by a car-
rier at a different rate than the rate in effect 
under 49 U.S.C. 13702 is liable for a maximum 
penalty of $100,000 per violation. When acting 
in the scope of his/her employment, the acts 
or omissions of a person acting for or em-
ployed by a carrier or shipper are considered 
to be the acts and omissions of that carrier 
or shipper, as well as that person. 

(11) Any person who offers, gives, solicits, 
or receives a rebate or concession related to 
motor carrier transportation subject to ju-
risdiction under subchapter I of 49 U.S.C. 
Chapter 135, or who assists or permits an-
other person to get that transportation at 
less than the rate in effect under 49 U.S.C. 
13702, commits a violation for which the pen-
alty is $200 for the first violation and $250 for 
each subsequent violation. 

(12) A freight forwarder, its officer, agent, 
or employee, that assists or willingly per-
mits a person to get service under 49 U.S.C. 
13531 at less than the rate in effect under 49 
U.S.C. 13702 commits a violation for which 
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the penalty is up to $500 for the first viola-
tion and up to $2,000 for each subsequent vio-
lation. 

(13) A person who gets or attempts to get 
service from a freight forwarder under 49 
U.S.C. 13531 at less than the rate in effect 
under 49 U.S.C. 13702 commits a violation for 
which the penalty is up to $500 for the first 
violation and up to $2,000 for each subse-
quent violation. 

(14) A person who knowingly authorizes, 
consents to, or permits a violation of 49 
U.S.C. 14103 relating to loading and unload-
ing motor vehicles or who knowingly vio-
lates subsection (a) of 49 U.S.C. 14103 is liable 
for a penalty of not more than $10,000 per 
violation. 

(15) A person, or an officer, employee, or 
agent of that person, who tries to evade reg-
ulation under Part B of Subtitle IV, Title 49, 
U.S.C., for carriers or brokers is liable for a 
penalty of $200 for the first violation and at 
least $250 for a subsequent violation. 

(16) A person required to make a report to 
the Secretary, answer a question, or make, 
prepare, or preserve a record under Part B of 
Subtitle IV, Title 49, U.S.C., or an officer, 
agent, or employee of that person, is liable 
for a maximum penalty of $5,000 per viola-
tion if it does not make the report, does not 
completely and truthfully answer the ques-
tion within 30 days from the date the Sec-
retary requires the answer, does not make or 
preserve the record in the form and manner 
prescribed, falsifies, destroys, or changes the 
report or record, files a false report or 
record, makes a false or incomplete entry in 
the record about a business related fact, or 
prepares or preserves a record in violation of 
a regulation or order of the Secretary. 

(17) A motor carrier, water carrier, freight 
forwarder, or broker, or their officer, re-
ceiver, trustee, lessee, employee, or other 
person authorized to receive information 
from them, who discloses information identi-
fied in 49 U.S.C. 14908 without the permission 
of the shipper or consignee is liable for a 
maximum penalty of $2,000. 

(18) A person who violates a provision of 
Part B, Subtitle IV, Title 49, U.S.C., or a reg-
ulation or order under Part B, or who vio-
lates a condition of registration related to 
transportation that is subject to jurisdiction 
under subchapter I or III or Chapter 135, or 
who violates a condition of registration of a 
foreign motor carrier or foreign motor pri-
vate carrier under section 13902, is liable for 
a penalty of $500 for each violation if another 
penalty is not provided in 49 U.S.C. Chapter 
149. 

(19) A violation of Part B, Subtitle IV, 
Title 49, U.S.C., committed by a director, of-
ficer, receiver, trustee, lessee, agent, or em-
ployee of a carrier that is a corporation is 
also a violation by the corporation to which 
the penalties of Chapter 149 apply. Acts and 
omissions of individuals acting in the scope 

of their employment with a carrier are con-
sidered to be the actions and omissions of 
the carrier as well as the individual. 

(20) In a proceeding begun under 49 U.S.C. 
14902 or 14903, the rate that a carrier pub-
lishes, files, or participates in under section 
13702 is conclusive proof against the carrier, 
its officers, and agents that it is the legal 
rate for the transportation or service. De-
parting, or offering to depart, from that pub-
lished or filed rate is a violation of 49 U.S.C. 
14902 and 14903. 

[63 FR 12414, Mar. 13, 1998, as amended at 65 
FR 7756, Feb. 16,, 2000]

PART 387—MINIMUM LEVELS OF FI-
NANCIAL RESPONSIBILITY FOR 
MOTOR CARRIERS

Subpart A—Motor Carriers of Property
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387.301 Surety bond, certificate of insur-
ance, or other securities. 

387.303 Security for the protection of the 
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387.305 Combination vehicles. 
387.307 Property broker surety bond or trust 
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